
	 	

	 	 	
	

	 	 	
	 	

	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	

Application: Persistence Preparatory Academy
Charter School 
Joelle Formato - jformato@persistenceprep.org 
2021-2022 Annual Report 

Summary 

ID: 0000000239 
Labels: SUNY Trustees 

Entry 1 School Info and Cover Page 

Completed Aug 1 2022 

Instructions 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

Each Annual Report begins with a completed School Information and Cover Page. The information is 
collected in a survey format within Annual Report portal. When entering information in the portal, some 
of the following items may not appear, depending on your authorizer and/or your responses to related 
items. 

Entry 1 School Information and Cover Page 

(New schools that were not open for instruction for the 2021-2022 school year are not required 

to complete or submit an annual report this year). 

Please be advised that you will need to complete this cover page (including signatures) before all of the 

other tasks assigned to you by your school's authorizer are visible on your task page. While completing this 

cover page task, please ensure that you select the correct authorizer (as of June 30, 2022) or you may 

not be assigned the correct tasks. 

BASIC INFORMATION 

1 / 30 
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a. SCHOOL NAME 

(Select name from the drop down menu) 

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 800000089577 

a1. Popular School Name 

Persistence Prep 

b. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of June 30th, 2021) 

Please select the correct authorizer as of June 30, 2022 or you may not be assigned the correct tasks. 

SUNY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

d. DISTRICT / CSD OF LOCATION 

BUFFALO CITY SD 

e. DATE OF INITIAL CHARTER 

10/2017 

f. DATE FIRST OPENED FOR INSTRUCTION 

8/2018 

2 / 30 



	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

270 

271 

c. School Unionized 

Is your charter school unionized? 

No 

h. SCHOOL WEB ADDRESS (URL) 

www.persistenceprep.org 

i. Total Approved Charter Enrollment for 2021-2022 School Year (exclude Pre-K program 

enrollment) 

j. Total Enrollment on June 30, 2022 (exclude Pre-K program enrollment) 

k. Grades Served during the 2021-2022 School Year (exclude Pre-K program students) 

Check all that apply 

Grades Served K, 1, 2, 3, 4 

3 / 30 
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l1. DOES THE SCHOOL CONTRACT WITH A CHARTER OR EDUCATIONAL MANAGEMENT 

ORGANIZATION? 

No 

FACILITIES INFORMATION 

m. FACILITIES 

Will the school maintain or operate multiple sites in 2022-2023? 

No, just one site. 

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 800000089577 

School Site 1 (Primary) 

4 / 30 



	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	
	 	

	
	

	 	
	

	 	
	

	
	

	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	

	 	 	

	
	

	
	 	 	 	 	

m1. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide information on Site 1 for the upcoming school year. 

Physical 
Address 

378 Urban 

Site 1 Street, Buffalo, 
NY 14211 

Phone Number District/CSD Grades to be 

Served at Site 

for coming 

year (K-5, 6-9, 
etc.) 

716-235-1520 Buffalo K-5 

m1a. Please provide the contact information for Site 1. 

Name 

School Leader Joelle Formato 

Operational 
Leader Adria Sortino 

Compliance 

Contact Adria Sortino 

Complaint 
Contact Joelle Formato 

DASA 

Coordinator Jasmine Mungo 

Phone Contact 
for After Hours 

Emergencies 

Joelle Formato 

Title 

Head of School 

Director of 
Operations 

Director of 
Operations 

Head of School 

Director of 
Scholar 
Supports 

Head of School 

Receives 

Rental 
Assistance for 
Which Grades 

(If yes, enter 
the appropriate 

grades. If no, 
enter No). 

No 

Work Phone Alternate Email Address 

Phone 

716-235-1520 

716-235-1520 

716-235-1520 

716-235-1520 

716-235-1520 

716-235-1520 

5 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

m1b. Is site 1 in public (co-located) space or in private space? 

Private Space 

IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m1d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection Report 

for school site 1 if located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Certificate of Occupancy and Fire Inspection. Provide a copy of a current and non-expired 

certificate of occupancy (if outside NYC or in private space in NYC). For schools that are not in 

district space (NYC co-locations), provide a copy of a current and non-expired certificate of 

occupancy, and a copy of the current annual fire inspection results, which should be dated on 

or after July 1, 2021. 

Fire inspection certificates must be updated annually. For the upcoming school year 

2022-2023, the fire inspection certificate must be dated after July 1, 2021. 

If the fire inspection certificate is dated after the August 1, 2022 submission of the 

Annual Report, please submit the new certificate with the Annual Report entries due on 

November 1, 2022. 

Site 1 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

Certificate.pdf 

Filename: Certificate.pdf Size: 160.3 kB 

Site 1 Fire Inspection Report 

Fire Safety Report.pdf 

Filename: Fire Safety Report.pdf Size: 1.1 MB 

CHARTER REVISIONS DURING THE 2021-2022 SCHOOL YEAR 

6 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

n1. Were there any revisions to the school’s charter during the 2021-2022 school year? (Please 

include approved or pending material and non-material charter revisions). 

No 

o. Has your school's Board of Trustee's approved a budget for the 2021-2022 FY? 

Yes 

ATTESTATIONS 

p. Individual Primarily Responsible for Submitting the Annual Report. (To write type in a phone 

number with an extension, please use this format: 123-456-7890-3. The dash and number 3 at 

the end of the phone number refers to the individual's phone extension. Do not type in the 

work extension or the abbreviation for it - just the dash and the extension number after the 

phone number). 

Name Joelle Formato 

Position Head of School 

Phone/Extension 716-235-1520-117 

Email jformato@persistenceprep.org 

p. Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board President) 

below attest that our school has reviewed, understands and will comply with the employee 

clearance and fingerprint requirements as outlined in Entry 10 and found in the NYSED CSO 

Fingerprint Clearance Oct 2019 Memo. Click YES to agree. 

Responses Selected: 

Yes 

7 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

q. Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board President) 

below attest that all of the information contained herein is truthful and accurate and that this 

charter school is in compliance with all aspects of its charter, and with all pertinent Federal, 

State, and local laws, regulations, and rules. We understand that if any information in any part 

of this report is found to have been deliberately misrepresented, that will constitute grounds 

for the revocation of our charter. Click YES to agree and then use the mouse on your PC or the 

stylus on your mobile device to sign your name). 

Responses Selected: 

Yes 

Signature, Head of Charter School 

Signature, President of the Board of Trustees 

8 / 30 



	 	

	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Date 

Jul 26 2022 

Thank you. 

Entry 3 Accountability Plan Progress Reports 

Incomplete 

Instructions 
SUNY-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY- Complete Template and Upload to Epicenter 

SUNY-authorized charter schools must download an Accountability Plan Progress Report template at 
Accountability Plan Progress Report. After completing, SUNY-authorized charter schools must upload the 
document into the SUNY Epicenter system by September 15, 2022. SUNY CSI will forward to NYSED 
CSO. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes 
only. 

Entry 4 - Audited Financial Statements 

Completed Oct 31 2022 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

ALL SUNY-authorized charter schools must upload the financial statements and related documents in 
PDF format into the SUNY Epicenter system no later than November 1, 2022. SUNY CSI will forward to 
NYSED CSO. SUNY-authorized charter schools are asked to ensure that security features such as 
password protection are turned off. 

ALL Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-authorized charter schools must upload final, audited 
financial statements to the Annual Report Portal no later than November 1, 2022. Upload the 
independent auditor’s report, any advisory and/or management letter, and the internal controls report as 
one submission, combined into a PDF file, ensuring that security features such as password protections 
are removed from all school uploaded documents. 

PLEASE NOTE: This task appears as visible and optional task in the online portal until August 1 
2022 but will be identified as a required task thereafter and due on November 1, 2022. This is a 
required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

2022 Financial Statements - FINAL 

Filename: 2022 Financial Statements FINAL.pdf Size: 536.1 kB 

Entry 4a – Audited Financial Report Template (SUNY) 

9 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

					

Completed Oct 31 2022 

Instructions - SUNY-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

SUNY-authorized schools must download the Excel spreadsheet entitled “Audited Financial Report 
Template” at http://www.newyorkcharters.org/fiscal/. After completing, schools must upload the 
document into the SUNY Epicenter system no later than November 1, 2022. SUNY CSI will forward to 
NYSED CSO. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes 
only. 

Entry 4a - PPACS 2021-22-Audited-Financial-Statement 

Filename: Entry 4a PPACS 2021 22 Audited Jh22SuG.xlsx Size: 176.2 kB 

Entry 4c – Additional Financial Documents 

Incomplete Hidden from applicant 

Instructions - Regents, NYCDOE and Buffalo BOE authorized schools must upload financial 
documents and submit by November 1, 2022. The items listed below should be uploaded, with an 
explanation if not applicable or available. For example, a “federal Single Audit was not required because 
the school did not expend federal funds of more than the $750,000 Threshold.” 

1. Advisory and/or Management letter 
2. Federal Single Audit 
3. CSP Agreed-Upon Procedure Report 
4. Evidence of Required Escrow Account for each school[1] 
5. Corrective Action Plan for Audit Findings and Management Letter Recommendations 

[1] Note: For BOR schools chartered or renewed after the 2017-2018 school year, the escrow account per 
school is $100,000. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes 
only. 

Entry 4d - Financial Services Contact Information 

Incomplete Hidden from applicant 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized schools should enter financial contact information 
directly into the form within the portal by November 1, 2022. 

Form for "Financial Services Contact Information" 

10 / 30 
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1. School Based Fiscal Contact Information 

School Based Fiscal School Based Fiscal School Based Fiscal 
Contact Name Contact Email Contact Phone 

2. Audit Firm Contact Information 

School Audit 
Contact Name 

School Audit 
Contact Email 

School Audit 
Contact Phone 

Years Working With 

This Audit Firm 

3. If applicable, please provide contact information for the school's outsourced financial 

services firm. 

Firm Name Contact Mailing Email Phone Years With 

Person Address Firm 

Entry 5 – Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget 
Completed Oct 30 2022 

SUNY-authorized charter schools should download the 2022-23 Budget and Quarterly Report 
Template and the 2022-23 Budget Narrative Questionnaire from the SUNY website and upload the 
completed template into Epicenter. SUNY CSI will forward to NYSED CSO. Due November 1, 2022. 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized charter schools should upload a copy of the 
school’s FY22 Budget using the 2022-2023 Budget Template in the portal or from the Annual Report 
website. Due November 1, 2022. 

The assumptions column should be completed for all revenue and expense items unless the item is self-
explanatory. Where applicable, reference the page number or section in the application narrative that 
indicates the assumption being made. For instance, student enrollment would reference the applicable 
page number in Section I, C of the application narrative. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes 
only. 

Entry 5 - PPACS 2022-23-Budget-and-Quarterly-Report-Template 

Filename: Entry 5 PPACS 2022 23 Budget an n0xXbMO.xlsx Size: 523.9 kB 

Entry 6 – Board of Trustees Disclosure of Financial Interest 
Form 

Completed Aug 1 2022 

11 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

Due on August 1, 2022, each member of the charter school’s Board of Trustees who served on a charter 
school education corporation governing one or more charter schools for any period during the 2021-2022 
school year must complete and sign a Trustee Disclosure of Financial Interest Form. Acceptable signature 
formats include: 

Digitally certified PDF signature (i.e., DocuSign) 
Manual signature (1. download to print, 2. manually sign, 3. scan signed document to PDF, and 4. 
upload into portal) 

All completed forms must be collected and uploaded in .PDF format for each individual member. The 
education corporation is responsible for completing the form for trustees who left the board 
during the reporting year. 

Forms completed from past years will not be accepted. Only the latest version of the form (updated in 
April, 2022) is acceptable.). 

Trustees serving on an education corporation that governs more than one school are not required to 
complete a separate disclosure for each school governed by the education corporation. In the Disclosure 
of Financial Interest Form, trustees must disclose information relevant to any of the schools served by the 
governing education corporation. 

Celniker, Kevin 

Filename: Celniker Kevin.pdf Size: 167.4 kB 

Finocchio, Bobbie 

Filename: Finocchio Bobbie.pdf Size: 464.6 kB 

Greene, Daniel 

Filename: Greene Daniel.pdf Size: 455.2 kB 

Haywood, Darnell 

Filename: Haywood Darnell.pdf Size: 160.6 kB 

Russo, Misha 

Filename: Russo Misha.pdf Size: 75.8 kB 

Parson, Derrick 

Filename: Parson Derrick.pdf Size: 436.4 kB 

Roberts, Catherine 

Filename: Roberts Catherine.pdf Size: 412.0 kB 

Newsom, Kenneth 

Filename: Newsom Kenneth.pdf Size: 1.6 MB 

Izzo, Rebecca 

Filename: Izzo Rebecca.pdf Size: 936.7 kB 

12 / 30 



	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

		 	 	 	 	 	 			

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bennett, Aaron 

Filename: Bennett Aaron.pdf Size: 1.6 MB 

Winkelsas, Amanda 

Filename: Winkelsas Amanda.pdf Size: 1.6 MB 

Tomasello, Elisha 

Filename: Tomasello Elisha.pdf Size: 1.6 MB 

Mekus, Tyler 

Filename: Mekus Tyler.pdf Size: 446.8 kB 

Entry 7 BOT Membership Table 

Completed Aug 1 2022 

Instructions 

Required of ALL charter schools 
ALL charter schools or education corporations governing multiple schools must complete the Board of 
Trustees Membership Table within the online portal. Please be sure to include and identify parents who 
are members of the Board of Trustees and indicate whether parents are voting or non-voting members. 

Entry 7 BOT Table 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide information for VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide 

information for all --VOTING and NON-VOTING-- trustees. 

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 800000089577 

Authorizer: 

Who is the authorizer of your charter school? 

SUNY 

1. 2021-2022 Board Member Information (Enter info for each BOT member) 

13 / 30 



	 	

	
	

	 	 	

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

Trustee Trustee Position 

Name Email on the 

Address Board 

Commit 
tee 

Affiliatio 

ns 

All 
committ 
ees 

Academ 

ic 

Finance, 
Facilities 

Develop 

ment 

Finance 

Develop 

ment 

Governa 

nce, 
Develop 

ment 

Academ 

Voting 

Member 
Per By-
Laws 

(Y/N) 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Number 
of Terms 

Served 

1 

2 

2 

1 

2 

2 

2 

2 

Start 
Date of 
Current 
Term 

(MM/DD 

/YYYY) 

12/31/2 

020 

6/30/20 

20 

1/1/202 

2 

1/1/202 

2 

6/30/20 

20 

12/2/20 

21 

6/30/20 

20 

6/30/20 

End 

Date of 
Current 
Term 

(MM/DD 

/YYYY) 

12/31/2 

023 

6/30/20 

23 

1/1/202 

5 

1/1/202 

5 

6/30/20 

23 

12/2/20 

24 

6/30/20 

23 

6/30/20 

Board 

Meeting 

s 

Attende 

d 

During 

2021-
2022 

12 

9 

8 

10 

12 

9 

10 

10 

Elisha 

Tomasel 
lo 

Catherin 

e 

Roberts 

Kevin 

Celniker 

Darnell 
Haywoo 

d 

Ken 

Newsom 

Misha 

Russo 

Dan 

Greene 

Amanda 

Winkels 

Chair 

Vice 

Chair 

Treasure 

r 

Secretar 
y 

Trustee/ 
Member 

Trustee/ 
Member 

Trustee/ 
Member 
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1a. Are there more than 9 members of the Board of Trustees? 

Yes 

15 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	

	
	

	 	 	

	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

1b. Board Member Information 

Trustee Trustee 

Name Email 
Address 

Aaron 10 Bennett 

Rebecca 11 Izzo 

Derrick 12 Parson 

13 

14 

15 

Position 

on the 

Board 

Trustee/ 
Member 

Trustee/ 
Member 

Trustee/ 
Member 

Commit 
tee 

Affiliatio 

ns 

Facilities 

Governa 

nce, 
Academ 

ic 

Governa 

nce 

Voting 

Member 
Per By-
Laws 

(Y/N) 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Number 
of Terms 

Served 

1 

1 

2 

Start 
Date of 
Current 
Term 

(MM/DD 

/YYYY) 

6/30/20 

22 

6/30/20 

22 

6/30/20 

20 

End 

Date of 
Current 
Term 

(MM/DD 

/YYYY) 

6/30/20 

23 

6/30/20 

25 

6/30/20 

23 

Board 

Meeting 

s 

Attende 

d 

During 

2021-
2022 

5 or less 

5 or less 

9 

1c. Are there more than 15 members of the Board of Trustees? 

(No response) 

16 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	
	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

1d. 2021-2022 Board Member Information 

Trustee 

Name 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Trustee 

Email 
Address 

Position 

on the 

Board 

Commit 
tee 

Affiliatio 

ns 

Voting 

Member 
Per By-
Laws 

(Y/N) 

Number 
of Terms 

Served 

Start 
Date of 
Current 
Term 

(MM/DD 

/YYYY) 

End 

Date of 
Current 
Term 

(MM/DD 

/YYYY) 

Board 

Meeting 

s 

Attende 

d 

During 

2021-
2022 

2. INFORMATION ABOUT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide response relative to VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide a response relative to 

all trustees. 

a. Total Number of BOT Members on June 30, 2022 

b.Total Number of Members Added During 2021-
2022 

c. Total Number of Members who Departed during 

2021-2022 

d.Total Number of members, as set in Bylaws, 
Resolution or Minutes 

12 

2 

2 

11-15 
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12 

12 

12 

2 

2 

3. Number of Board meetings held during 2021-2022 

4. Number of Board meetings scheduled for 2022-2023 

Total number of Voting Members on June 30, 2022: 

Total number of Voting Members added during the 2021-2022 school year: 

Total number of Voting Members who departed during the 2021-2022 school year: 

Total Maximum Number of Voting members in 2021-2022, as set by the board in bylaws, 

resolution, or minutes: 

11-15 

Thank you. 

Entry 8 Board Meeting Minutes 

Completed Aug 1 2022 Hidden from applicant 

Instructions - Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Schools ONLY 

18 / 30 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	

Schools must upload a complete set of monthly board meeting minutes (July 2021-June 2022), which 
should match the number of meetings held during the 2021-2022 school year, as indicated in the above 
table. The minutes provided must be the final version approved by the school’s Board of Trustees and 
may be uploaded individually or as one single combined file. Board meeting minutes must be submitted 
by August 1, 2022. 

2021-2022 Meeting Minutes 

Filename: 2021 2022 Meeting Minutes.pdf Size: 3.3 MB 

Entry 9 Enrollment & Retention 

Completed Aug 1 2022 

Instructions for submitting Enrollment and Retention Efforts 
Required of ALL Charter Schools 

Describe the good faith efforts the charter school has made in 2021-2022 toward meeting targets to 
attract and retain the enrollment of Students with Disabilities (SWDs), English Language Learners 
(ELLs), and students who are economically disadvantaged. In addition, describe the school’s plans for 
meeting or making progress toward meeting its enrollment and retention targets in 2022-2023. 

Entry 9 Enrollment and Retention of Special
Populations 

Recruitment/Attraction Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Economically Disadvantaged 

Describe Recruitment Efforts in 

2021-2022 

Our school is located in the 

14211 zip code. According to the 

most recent census data, 73% of 
households have an income 

below $50k and 35% of people 

live below the poverty line. Our 
team intentionally recruits 

students directly from our 
neighborhood and other 
surrounding zip codes with 

similar levels of poverty. We 

tabled at events, churches and 

Head Start programs, went door 
to door in targeted 

neighborhoods and sent a direct 

Describe Recruitment Plans in 

2022-2023 

We have always had strong 

success with recruiting 

economically disadvantaged 

scholars and maintained our 
same strategy for the 22-23 

school year. We did a billboard 

campaign in targeted 

neighborhoods, continued to 

partner with the Enroll Buffalo 

campaign and fair, and relied 

heavily on our Family 
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mail campaign to target zip 

codes. Word of mouth through 

our Family Ambassadors program 

also assisted with recruitment of 
scholars within our 
neighborhoods. 

English Language Learners 

Students with Disabilities 

We joined the Enroll Buffalo 

platform for student applications, 
a consortium of 16 charter 
schools across our city. This has 

allowed us to reach a wider 
audience of families and become 

better known in particular 
communities, especially English 

Language Learners. We also put 
up a multi-lingual billboard in a 

targeted neighborhood, made 

application materials available in 

5 languages, and worked with a 

few Family Ambassadors to 

increase our visibility. This still 
remains a major focus for our 
future recruitment. 

We continue to ensure we have 

an ICT classroom at each grade 

level that we advertise 

throughout our recruitment 
process. All of our recruitment 
materials include details around 

our Special Education offerings 

and ensure that families know we 

accept all students, regardless of 
IEP/ 504 status. 

Ambassadors to help spread the 

word about our school. 

We continued our work with the 

Enroll Buffalo platform for 
student applications, a 

consortium of 16 charter schools 

across our city. This has allowed 

us to reach a wider audience of 
families and become better 
known in particular communities, 
especially English Language 

Learners. We also put up a multi-
lingual billboard in a targeted 

neighborhood, made application 

materials available in 5 

languages, and worked with a 

few Family Ambassadors to 

increase our visibility. We will be 

attending the Taste of Diversity 

festival in August to continue to 

get our name out into the 

community. We are also working 

to increase our staff diversity and 

recruit a few ELL staff members. 
This still remains a major focus 

for our future recruitment. 

We continue to ensure we have 

an ICT classroom at each grade 

level that we advertise 

throughout our recruitment 
process. All of our recruitment 
materials include details around 

our Special Education offerings 

and ensure that families know we 

accept all students, regardless of 
IEP/ 504 status. In the 21-22 

school year we also joined a 

SPED collaborative that is 

working to share best practices 
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across charters in our area 

around instruction, recruitment, 
support, etc. 
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Retention Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Economically Disadvantaged 

Students with Disabilities 

Describe Retention Efforts in 

2021-2022 

Since 93% of our student 
population is economically 

disadvantaged, all retention 

efforts encompass this sub-
group. We focus on feedback 

from family surveys 

(administered 3 times per year), 
focus groups, and student 
feedback. 

We did not have any ELL scholars We did not have any ELL scholars English Language Learners to retain. to retain. 

We continue to ensure that our 
Special Education program is 

strong and meets the needs of all 
learners. We offer an ICT 

classroom at each grade level 
and continue to partner with 

Buffalo Hearing and Speech for 
high-quality related services. Our 
Director of Special Education 

maintains strong relationships 

and communication with families 

to ensure they stay up to date 

with their child's progress and 

feel included in the Special 
Education process (meetings, 
progress reports, etc.) 

Describe Retention Plans in 

2022-2023 

Since 93% of our student 
population is economically 

disadvantaged, all retention 

efforts encompass this sub-
group. We focus on feedback 

from family surveys 

(administered 3 times per year), 
focus groups, and student 
feedback. 

We continue to ensure that our 
Special Education program is 

strong and meets the needs of all 
learners. We offer an ICT 

classroom at each grade level 
and continue to partner with 

Buffalo Hearing and Speech for 
high-quality related services. Our 
Director of Special Education 

maintains strong relationships 

and communication with families 

to ensure they stay up to date 

with their child's progress and 

feel included in the Special 
Education process (meetings, 
progress reports, etc.) We are 

also engaging staff in increased 

PD/ training around how to best 
support Special Education 

students in the general education 

setting (through RELAY). We will 
also continue our work with the 

Buffalo Special Education 

collaborative. 

Entry 10 – Teacher and Administrator Attrition 
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Completed Aug 1 2022 

Form for "Entry 10 – Teacher and Administrator
Attrition" Revised to Employee Fingerprint
Requirements Attestation 

A. TEACH System – Employee Clearance 

Charter schools must ensure that all prospective employees[1] receive clearance through the NYSED Office 

of School Personnel Review and Accountability (OSPRA) prior to employment. This includes 

paraprofessionals and other school personnel who are provided or assigned by the district of 

location, or related/contracted service providers. After an employee has been cleared, schools are 

required to maintain proof of such clearance in the file of each employee. For the safety of all students, 
charter schools must take immediate steps to terminate the employment of individuals who have been 

denied clearance. Once the employees have been terminated, the school must terminate the request for 
clearance in the TEACH system. 

In the Annual Report, charter schools are asked to confirm that all employees have been cleared through 

the NYSED TEACH system; and, if denied clearance, confirm that the individual or employee has been 

removed from the TEACH system, and is not employed by the school. 

[1] Employees who must be cleared include, but are not limited to, teachers, administrative staff, janitors, 
security personnel and cafeteria workers, and other staff who are present when children are in the school 
building. This includes paraprofessionals and other school personnel that are provided or 

assigned by the district of location, as well as related/contracted service providers. See NYSED 

memorandum dated October 1, 2019 at http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/programs/charter-
schools/employeefingerprintoct19.pdf or visit the NYSED website at: 
http://www.highered.nysed.gov/tsei/ospra/fingerprintingcharts.html for more information regarding who 

must be fingerprinted. Also see, 8 NYCRR §87.2. 
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B. Emergency Conditional Clearances 

Emergency Conditional Clearances 

Charter schools are strongly discouraged from using the emergency conditional clearance provisions for 
prospective employees. This is because the school must request clearance through NYSED TEACH, and the 

school’s emergency conditional clearance of the employee terminates automatically once the school 
receives notification from NYSED regarding the clearance request. Status notification is provided for all 
prospective employees through the NYSED TEACH portal within 48 hours after the clearance request is 

submitted. Therefore, at most, a school’s emergency conditional clearance will be valid for only 48 hours 

after approval by the board. 

Schools are not permitted to renew or in any way re-establish a prospective employee’s emergency 

conditional clearance after status notification is sent by NYSED through the TEACH portal. 

Schools are asked to attest that they have reviewed and understand these requirements. More information 

can be found in the memo at NYSED CSO Employee Clearance and Fingerprint Memo 10-2019. 

Attestation 

Responses Selected: 

I hereby attest that the school has reviewed, understands, and will comply with these requirements. 

Entry 11 Percent of Uncertified Teachers 

In Progress Last edited: Aug 1 2022 Hidden from applicant 

Instructions 

Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

The table below reflects the information collected through the online portal for compliance with New 
York State Education Law 2854(3)(a-1) for teaching staff qualifications. Uncertified teachers are those 
not certified pursuant to the State Certification Requirements established by the NYSED Commissioner of 
Education. 

Enter the relevant full-time equivalent (FTE) count of teachers in each column. For example, a school 
with 20 full-time teachers and 5 half-time teachers would have an FTE count of 22.5. 

Entry 11 Uncertified Teachers 

School Name: 
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Instructions for Reporting Percent of Uncertified
Teachers 

Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Charter Schools 

The table below reflects the information collected through the online portal for compliance 

with New York State Education Law 2854(3)(a-1) for teaching staff qualifications. Uncertified 

teachers are those not certified pursuant to the State Certification Requirements established 

by the NYSED Commissioner of Education. Enter the relevant full-time equivalent (FTE) count 

of teachers in each column. For example, a school with 20 full-time teachers and 5 half-time 

teachers would have an FTE count of 22.5. 

If more than one line applies to a teacher, please include in only one FTE uncertified category. Please do 

not include paraprofessionals, such as teacher aides. 

CATEGORY A. 30% OR 5 UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS WHICHEVER IS LESS 

FTE Count 

i. FTE count of uncertified teacher with at least 
three years of elementary, middle or secondary 

classroom teaching experience (as of June 30, 
2022) 

ii. FTE count of uncertified teachers who are 

tenured or tenure track college faculty (as of June 

30, 2022) 

iii. FTE count of uncertified teachers with two years 

of Teach for America experience (as of June 30, 
2022) 

iv. FTE count of uncertified teachers with 

exceptional business, professional, artistic, 
athletic, or military experience (as June 30, 2022) 

Total Category A: 5 or 30% whichever is less 0 
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CATEGORY B. PLUS FIVE UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS IN MATHEMATICS, SCIENCE, COMPUTER 

SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY OR CAREER AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION. 

FTE Count 

i. Mathematics 

0 Total Category B: not to exceed 5 

ii. Science 

iii. Computer Science 

iv. Technology 

v. Career and Technical Education 

CATEGORY C: PLUS 5 ADDITIONAL UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS 

FTE Count 

i. FTE count of uncertified teacher with at least 
three years of elementary, middle or secondary 

classroom teaching experience (as of June 30, 
2022) 

ii. FTE count of uncertified teachers who are 

tenured or tenure track college faculty (as of June 

30, 2022) 

iii. FTE count of uncertified teachers with two years 

of Teach for America experience (as of June 30, 
2022) 

iv. FTE count of uncertified teachers with 

exceptional business, professional, artistic, 
athletic, or military experience (as June 30, 2022) 

Total Category C: not to exceed 5 0 
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TOTAL FTE COUNT OF UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS (Sum of Categories A, B AND C) 

(Include teachers who do not fit in one of these categories or if did fit would exceed the numerical limits for 
that category) 

FTE Count 

Total 

CATEGORY D: TOTAL FTE COUNT OF UNCATEGORIZED, UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS 

(Include teachers who do not fit in one of these categories or if did fit would exceed the numerical limits for 
that category) 

FTE Count 

Total Category D 

CATEGORY E: TOTAL FTE COUNT OF CERTIFIED TEACHERS 

FTE Count 

Total Category E 

CATEGORY F: TOTAL FTE COUNT OF ALL TEACHERS 

Please do not include paraprofessionals, such as teacher aides. 

FTE Count 

Total Category F 

Thank you. 

Entry 12 Organization Chart 
Incomplete Hidden from applicant 
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Instructions 

Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

Upload the 2021-2022 Organization Chart. The organization chart should include position titles and 
reporting relationships. Employee names should not appear on the chart. 

Entry 13 School Calendar 

Completed Aug 1 2022 

Instructions for submitting School Calendar 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

If the charter school has a tentative calendar based on available information and guidance at the time, 
please submit with the August 1, 2022 submission. Charter schools must upload a final school calendar 
into the portal and may do so at any time but no later than September 15, 2022. 

School calendars must meet the minimum instructional requirements as required of other public schools 
“… unless the school’s charter requires more instructional time than is required under the regulations.” 

Board of Regents-authorized charter schools also are required to submit school calendars that clearly 
indicate the start and end date of the instructional year AND the number of instructional hours and/or 
instructional days for each month. See an example of a calendar showing the requested information. 
Schools are encouraged to use a calendar template and ensure there is a monthly tally of instructional 
days. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes 
only. 

22-23 Persistence Prep Annual Calendar 

Filename: 22 23 Persistence Prep Annual Calendar.pdf Size: 55.4 kB 

Entry 14 Links to Critical Documents on School Website 

Completed Aug 1 2022 

Instructions 

Required of ALL Charter Schools noting that SUNY-authorized charter schools are not required 
to submit item 5: Authorizer-approved DASA policy and NYSED-Approved School Discipline 
Policy 

By law, each charter school is required to maintain certain notices and policies listed on its website. 
Please insert the link from the school’s website for each of the items: 

1. Current Annual Report (i.e., 2021-2022 Annual Report);[1] 
2. Board meeting notices, agendas and documents; 
3. New York State School Report Card; 
4. Authorizer-approved DASA Policy and NYSED-Approved School Discipline Policy (For Regents, 
NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY); 

5. District-wide safety plan, not a building level safety plan (as per the September 2021 Emergency 
Response Plan Memo; 

6. Authorizer-approved FOIL Policy; and 
7. Subject matter list of FOIL records. (Example: See NYSED Subject Matter List) 
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[1] Each charter school is required to make the Annual Report publicly available by August 1 and to post 
on their respective charter school website. Each school should post an updated and complete version to 
include accountability data and financial statements that are not or may not be available until after the 
August deadline (i.e., Repost when financials have been submitted in November.) 

Form for Entry 14 Links to Critical Documents on
School Website 

School Name: Persistence Preparatory Academy Charter School 

Required of ALL Charter Schools noting that SUNY-authorized charter schools are not required 

to submit item 4: Authorizer-approved DASA policy and NYSED-Approved School Discipline 

Policy 

By law, each charter school is required to maintain certain notices and policies listed on its 

website. Please insert the link from the school’s website for each of the items: 

Link to Documents 

https://www.persistenceprep.org/important-info 

https://www.persistenceprep.org/board-meetings 

https://www.persistenceprep.org/important-info 

https://www.persistenceprep.org/important-info 

https://www.persistenceprep.org/important-info 

https://www.persistenceprep.org/important-info 

1. Current Annual Report (i.e., 2021-2022 Annual 
Report) 

2. Board meeting notices, agendas and documents 

3. New York State School Report Card 

4. Authorizer-approved DASA Policy and NYSED-
Approved School Discipline Policy (For Regents, 
NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-Authorized Charter 
Schools ONLY) 

5. District-wide safety plan, not a building level 
safety plan (as per the September 2021 

Emergency Response Plan Memo 

6. Authorizer-approved FOIL Policy 

7. Subject matter list of FOIL records. (Example: 
See NYSED Subject Matter List) 

Thank you. 
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Entry 15 Staff Roster 

Incomplete Hidden from applicant 

INSTRUCTIONS 

Required of Regents and NYCDOE-authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

Please click on the MS Excel Faculty/Staff Roster Template and provide the following information for ANY 
and ALL instructional and non-instructional employees. 

Use of the 2021-2022 Annual Report Faculty/Staff roster template is required. Each of the data 
elements, with the exception of the Notes, are required, and use of the drop-down options, 
when provided, is also required. Reminders: Please use the notes section provided to add any 
additional information as deemed necessary. Failure to adhere to the guidelines and validations in the 
Staff Roster Template will result in a resubmission of a fully corrected roster. 

Please note the roster should include all staff employed any point from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022, 
including those employed on June 30th. 

30 / 30 





 
                                                                

                                                                                           

  

                                                      

  

 
   

  

 

                                                                                          

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Financial Position 

as of June 30, 2022 

ASSETS 2021-22 2020-21 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents  $  1,054,365  $  907,297 
Grants and contracts receivable 193,996 239,423 
Accounts receivables - -
Prepaid expenses                                  11,448                                      37,837 
Contributions and other receivables                                             -                                                 -

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS                            1,259,809                                1,184,557 

PROPERTY, BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT, net                            8,661,228                                6,975,813 

OTHER ASSETS                               481,810                                   397,826 

TOTAL ASSETS 10,402,847 8,558,196 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $  130,417  $  1,154,562 
Accrued payroll and benefits                               103,795                                      74,761 
Deferred Revenue                                             -                                                 -
Current maturities of long-term debt                               121,070                                      11,168 
Short Term Debt - Bonds, Notes Payable                                             -                                   400,000 
Other                                             -                                                 -

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES                               355,282                                1,640,491 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Deferred Rent                                             -                                                 -
All other long-term debt and notes payable, net current maturities                            7,340,329                                4,512,840 

TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES                            7,340,329                                4,512,840 

TOTAL LIABILITIES                            7,695,611                                6,153,331 

NET ASSETS 
Without Donor Restrictions                            2,707,236                                2,394,765 
With Donor Ristrictions                                             -                                      10,100 

TOTAL NET ASSETS                            2,707,236                                2,404,865 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET 
ASSETS                          10,402,847                                8,558,196 

CK - Should be zero - -



 
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

 

 

 

    
 

 

 

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Activities 

as of June 30, 2022 

 Without Donor 
Restrictions

2021-22 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total

2020-21

 Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 
Public School District

 Resident Student Enrollment
 Students with disabilities

Grants and Contracts
 State and local 
 Federal - Title and IDEA
 Federal - Other
 Other

NYC DoE Rental Assistance
Food Service/Child Nutrition Program

TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 

EXPENSES 
Program Services

 Regular Education 
 Special Education 
 Other Programs

Total Program Services
Management and general
Fundraising

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FROM SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 
Contributions

 Foundations
 Individuals
 Corporations

Fundraising
Interest income
Miscellaneous income
Net assets released from restriction

TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 

NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF YEAR
PRIOR YEAR/PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

NET ASSETS END OF YEAR 

 $  

 $  

 $  

 $  

3,565,311 
                    192,595 

                    113,143 
                    147,008 
                    307,374 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

                4,325,431 

2,590,023 
                    286,059 
                    366,315 
                3,242,397 
                    819,634 
                                 - 
                4,062,031 

                    263,400 

-
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                      38,971 
                      10,100 
                      49,071 

                    312,471 

                2,394,765 
                                 - 

2,707,236 

 $  

 $  

 $  

 $  

-
                                 - 

                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

                                 - 

-
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

                                 - 

-
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                    (10,100)
                    (10,100)

                    (10,100)

                      10,100 
                                 - 

-

 $  

 $  

 $  

 $  

3,565,311 
                    192,595 

                    113,143 
                    147,008 
                    307,374 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

                4,325,431 

2,590,023 
                    286,059 
                    366,315 
                3,242,397 
                    819,634 
                                 - 
                4,062,031 

                    263,400 

-
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                      38,971 
                                 - 
                      38,971 

                    302,371 

                2,404,865 
                                 - 

2,707,236 

 $  

 $  

 $  

 $  

2,952,431 
                                 106,155 

                                 680,855 
                                               - 
                                               - 
                                 254,452 
                                               - 
                                               - 

                              3,993,893 

1,729,542 
                                 209,878 
                                 269,104 
                              2,208,524 
                                 667,215 
                                               - 
                              2,875,739 

                              1,118,154 

10,100 
                                               - 
                                               - 
                                               - 
                                               - 
                                    10,430 
                                               - 
                                    20,530 

                              1,138,684 

                              1,266,181 
                                               - 

2,404,865 



                                                                     
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                      
                                                   

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Cash Flows 

as of June 30, 2022 

2021-22 2020-21 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Increase (decrease) in net assets  $                                                -  $                                                - 
Revenues from School Districts 3,803,156 3,084,396 
Accounts Receivable - -
Due from School Districts - -
Depreciation - -
Grants Receivable - -
Due from NYS - -
Grant revenues -                                                     - 
Prepaid Expenses                                                     -                                                     - 
Accounts Payable                                  (1,097,111)                                  (1,012,598) 
Accrued Expenses                                  (2,346,763)                                  (1,797,499) 
Accrued Liabilities                                                     -                                                     - 
Contributions and fund-raising activities                                       568,881                                       636,415 
Miscellaneous sources                                         38,971                                         10,430 
Deferred Revenue                                                     -                                                     - 
Interest payments                                     (181,804)                                          (8,879) 
Other                                                     -                                                     - 
Other                                                     -                                                     - 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  $  785,330  $  912,265 

CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of equipment                                  (3,100,589)                                  (5,515,339) 
Other                                                     -                                                     - 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  $  (3,100,589)  $  (5,515,339) 

CASH FLOWS - FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Principal payments on long-term debt                                     (426,843)                                          (8,349) 
Other                                    2,964,234                                    4,918,486 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  $  2,537,391  $  4,910,137 

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  $  222,132  $  307,063 
Cash at beginning of year                                    1,302,978                                       995,915 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  $  1,525,110  $  1,302,978 



 
   

                   
                 
                   

 

 

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Functional Expenses 

as of June 30, 2022 

2021-22 2020-21 
Program Services Supporting Services 

No. of Positions 
Regular 

Education Special Education Other Education Total Fund-raising 
Management and 

General Total Total 
Personnel Services Costs  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 

Administrative Staff Personnel 4.40                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                 318,752                 318,752                 318,752                 260,095 
Instructional Personnel 27.00              1,314,999                 134,998                              -              1,449,997                              -                              -                              -              1,449,997              1,052,502 
Non-Instructional Personnel 2.00                              -                              -                 154,429                 154,429                              -                              -                              -                 154,429                 143,460 
Total Salaries and Staff                   33.40              1,314,999                 134,998                 154,429              1,604,426                              -                 318,752                 318,752              1,923,178              1,456,057 

Fringe Benefits & Payroll Taxes                 255,612                    26,241                    30,018                 311,871                              -                    61,960                    61,960                 373,831                 300,824 
Retirement                    53,066                      5,448                      6,232                    64,746                              -                    12,863                    12,863                    77,609                    74,803 
Management Company Fees                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 
Legal Service                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 
Accounting / Audit Services                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 
Other Purchased / Professional / Consulting Services                    27,350                    75,836                    50,000                 153,186                              -                 149,175                 149,175                 302,361                 301,787 
Building and Land Rent / Lease / Facility Finance Interest                 277,866                    17,368                    17,368                 312,602                              -                    34,733                    34,733                 347,335                 187,927 
Repairs & Maintenance                 151,016                      9,438                      9,438                 169,892                              -                    18,876                    18,876                 188,768                    69,411 
Insurance                              -                      1,737                              -                      1,737                              -                    79,002                    79,002                    80,739                    47,849 
Utilities                    27,795                              -                      1,737                    29,532                              -                      3,474                      3,474                    33,006                    16,152 
Supplies / Materials                 113,684                              -                              -                 113,684                              -                              -                              -                 113,684                    38,572 
Equipment / Furnishings                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 
Staff Development                    49,215                              -                              -                    49,215                              -                              -                              -                    49,215                 126,674 
Marketing  / Recruitment                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                      9,253                      9,253                      9,253                    12,931 
Technology                    79,523                              -                              -                    79,523                              -                              -                              -                    79,523                    87,459 
Food Service                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 
Student Services                              -                              -                    82,100                    82,100                              -                              -                              -                    82,100                    36,165 
Office Expense                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                    38,218                    38,218                    38,218                    26,232 
Depreciation                 239,897                    14,993                    14,993                 269,883                              -                    29,987                    29,987                 299,870                    70,536 
OTHER                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                    63,341                    63,341                    63,341                    22,360 
Total Expenses  $  2,590,023  $  286,059  $  366,315  $  3,242,397  $  -  $  819,634  $  819,634  $  4,062,031  $  2,875,739 





Charter Funding Alphabetical By NYS School District 
* (Sum of Charter School Basic Tuition and Supplemental Basic Tuition) 
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ANNUAL BUDGET & QUARTERLY REPORT TEMPLATE 

Persistence Preparatory Academy Charter School 

SCHOOL 
Name: Persistence Preparatory Academy Charter School 

CONTACT INFORMATION 
Contact Name: Joelle Formato 
Contact Title: Founder & Head of School 
Contact Email: jformato@persistenceprep.org 
Contact Phone: 716-235-1520 

REPORT PERIOD 
Current Academic Year: 2022-23 
Prior Academic Year: 2021-22 
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PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 
2022-23 

ENROLLMENT BY GRADES 

GRADES K 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 
INITIAL BUDGETED ENROLLMENT 54 54 54 54 54 54 
TOTAL ENROLLMENT = 324 

1 
2 

ENROLLMENT BY DISTRICT 

PRIOR YEAR
 ANNUAL BUDGET 

TOTAL DISTRICTS/ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 
 ACTUAL QUARTERLY 

TOTAL DISTRICTS/ENROLLMENT 
ACTUAL QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Actual Actual Actual Actual 
NUMBER OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS ENROLLED: 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 
NUMBER OF STUDENTS ENROLLED: 0 324 0 324 0 324 0 324 0 0 0 0 0 

PRIOR YEAR 
ANNUAL BUDGET 

ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER ACTUAL ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 
2021-22 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

PRIMARY/OTHER DISTRICT NAME(S) 
Actual 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 
Actual 

Enrollment 
Actual 

Enrollment 
Actual 

Enrollment 
Actual 

Enrollment 
PRIMARY District BUFFALO CITY SD 324 324 324 324 
SECONDARY District (Select from drop-down list) → 

*NOTE: If there are NO budget revisions at the time of quarterly submittal leave the 'REVISED' Column(s) 
COMPLETELY BLANK.  If budget revisions ARE made, the entire "REVISED" budget columns for the affected 
quarter(s) must be completed on tabs 2, 3 and 4. 
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PRIMARY/OTHER DISTRICT NAME(S) 

PRIOR YEAR 
2021-22 

Actual 
Enrollment 

ANNUAL BUDGET 
ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 
Original 

Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 

Enrollment 

ACTUAL ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 
QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 
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PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 
2022-23 

STAFFING PLAN - FULL TIME EQUIVALENT ("FTE")

 *NOTE:   Enter the number of FTE positions 
in the "blue" cells. 

*NOTE:   State the assumptions that are being 
made for personnel FTE levels. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL FTE PRIOR YEAR ANNUAL BUDGETED FTE ACTUAL QUARTERLY FTE Description of Assumptions 
2021-22 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
ACTUAL Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Actual Actual Actual Actual 

Executive Management 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 HoS 
Instructional Management 
Deans, Directors & Coordinators 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 Director of Curriculum & Instruction, Dean of Culture 

& Scholar Supports/ SPED Coordinator 
CFO / Director of Finance 
Operation / Business Manager 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 Director of Operations 
Administrative Staff 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 Operations Fellow & Office Manager 
TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 0.0 6.5 0.0 6.5 0.0 6.5 0.0 6.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL FTE PRIOR YEAR ANNUAL BUDGETED FTE ACTUAL QUARTERLY FTE Description of Assumptions 
2021-22 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
ACTUAL Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Actual Actual Actual Actual 

Teachers - Regular 21.0 21.0 21.0 21.0 
Teachers - SPED 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 
Substitute Teachers 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
Teaching Assistants 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 
Specialty Teachers 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 3 ELL/RTI, 1 PE, 1 Intervention, 1 Dance, 1 Enrichment 
Aides 
Therapists & Counselors 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2 Counselors 
Other 
TOTAL INSTRUCTIONAL 0.0 36.5 0.0 36.5 0.0 36.5 0.0 36.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

NON-INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL FTE PRIOR YEAR ANNUAL BUDGETED FTE ACTUAL QUARTERLY FTE Description of Assumptions 
2021-22 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
ACTUAL Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Original Revised Actual Actual Actual Actual 

Nurse 
Librarian 
Custodian 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
Security 
Other 
TOTAL NON-INSTRUCTIONAL 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICE FTE 0.0 44.0 0.0 44.0 0.0 44.0 0.0 44.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

*NOTE: Each quarter, the actual FTE should be input. *NOTE:   If there are NO budget revisions at the time of quarterly submittal leave the 'REVISED' Column(s) COMPLETELY BLANK. 
If budget revisions ARE made, the entire "REVISED" budget columns for the affected quarter(s) must be completed on tabs 2, 3 and 4. 
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PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 
BALANCE SHEET 

2022-23 

Prior Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2021-22 As of 9/30 As of 12/31 As of 3/31 As of 6/30 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants and contracts receivable
Accounts receivables
Prepaid Expenses
Contributions and other receivables

                             - 
                             - 
                             - 
                             - 
                             - 

                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 

PROPERTY, BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT, net                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 

OTHER ASSETS 
Right of Use Asset
Other

                             - 
                             - 

                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 

TOTAL ASSETS - - - - -

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued payroll and benefits
Deferred Revenue
Current maturities of long-term debt
Short Term Debt - Bonds, Notes Payable
Lease Liability
Other

                             - 
                             - 
                             - 
                             - 
                             - 
                             - 
                             - 

                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 

LONG-TERM DEBT and NOTES PAYABLE, net current maturities
LEASE LIABILITY, less current portion

                             - 
                             - 

                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted

TOTAL NET ASSETS

                             - 
                             - 
                             -                              -                              -                              -                              - 

                             -                              -                              -                              - 
                             -                              -                              -                              - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS                              -                              -                              -                              -                              - 
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PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Table of Contents 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on 
an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 





In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 24, 2022 on our 
consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters.  The purpose of that report 
is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

October 24, 2022 

2 



                        

                            

                

                

            

                

                          

                    

                          

                    

        

                

                                       

                

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Balance Sheets 

June 30, 2022 2021 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash 

Receivables (Note 2) 
Prepaid expenses 

$      1,054,365 
193,996 

11,448 
1,259,809 

$          832,297 
239,423 

37,837 
1,109,557 

Property and equipment, net (Note 3) 8,661,228 6,975,813 

Restricted cash 470,745 470,681 

Other 11,065 2,145 

$    10,402,847 $      8,558,196 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
Current liabilities: 

Short-term borrowings (Note 4) 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 5) 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 

$                       -

121,070 
130,417 
103,795 
355,282 

$          400,000 
11,168 

1,154,562 
74,761 

1,640,491 

Long-term debt (Note 5) 7,340,329 4,512,840 

Net assets: 
Without donor restrictions 
With donor restrictions (Note 6) 

2,707,236 
-

2,707,236 

2,394,765 
10,100 

2,404,865 

$    10,402,847 $      8,558,196 

See accompanying notes.  3 



                      

                      

                                   

                          

                          

                

                

                      

                      

                      

                

                   

                                     

                        

                        

                   

                

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statements of Activities 

For the years ended June 30, 2022 2021 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions: 
Support and revenue: 

Enrollment fees: 
Resident students 
Students with disabilities 

Contributions: 

Federal, state, and local awards 
Paycheck Protection Program (Note 10) 

Other income 
Net assets released from restrictions 

Total support and revenue 

$     3,565,311 
192,595 

567,525 
-

38,971 
10,100 

4,374,502 

$     2,952,431 
106,155 

680,855 
254,452 

10,430 
94,719 

4,099,042 

Expenses: 
Program expenses: 

Regular education 
Special education 
Other program 

Supporting services: 
Management and general 

Total expenses 

2,590,023 
286,059 
366,315 

819,634 
4,062,031 

1,785,071 
213,348 
272,574 

604,746 
2,875,739 

Change in net assets without donor restrictions 312,471 1,223,303 

Net assets with donor restrictions: 
Contributions 
Net assets released from restrictions 

-

(10,100) 
10,100 

(94,719) 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions (10,100) (84,619) 

Change in net assets 302,371 1,138,684 

Net assets - beginning 2,404,865 1,266,181 

Net assets - ending $     2,707,236 $     2,404,865 

See accompanying notes.  4 



        

                                                                 

                                                                                        

     

                                                

                                                                                     

                                                                                

                                                           

                                                                                     

                                                    

                                                    

                                                                                     

                                                                                     

                                                                                          

                                                    

                                                                                     

                                                                                     

                                                                                     

                                                            

                                                                                     

                                  

                                                

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Number 
of Regular Special Other Management 

Positions Education Education Program and General Total 
Administrative personnel 4.4 $                     - $                   - $                 - $       318,752 $      318,752 
Instructional personnel 27.0 1,314,999 134,998 - - 1,449,997 
Non-instructional personnel 2.0 - - 154,429 - 154,429 

33.4 $    1,314,999 $      134,998 $    154,429 $       318,752 $   1,923,178 

Salaries $    1,314,999 $      134,998 $    154,429 $       318,752 $   1,923,178 
Employee benefits and payroll taxes 308,678 31,689 36,250 74,823 451,440 
Afterschool program - - 50,000 - 50,000 
Classroom supplies and materials 113,684 - - - 113,684 
Consultants and professional fees 27,350 75,836 - 149,175 252,361 
Insurance - - - 79,002 79,002 
Interest 145,442 9,091 9,091 18,180 181,804 
Occupancy 132,424 8,277 8,277 16,553 165,531 
Office expense - - - 38,218 38,218 
Other expenses - - - 37,341 37,341 
Recruitment - - - 9,253 9,253 
Repairs and maintenance 151,016 9,438 9,438 18,876 188,768 
Staff development 49,215 - - - 49,215 
Student services - - 82,100 - 82,100 
Technology 79,523 - - - 79,523 
Telephone 27,795 1,737 1,737 3,474 34,743 
Bad debts - - - 26,000 26,000 

2,350,126 271,066 351,322 789,647 3,762,161 
Depreciation 239,897 14,993 14,993 29,987 299,870 

Total $    2,590,023 $      286,059 $    366,315 $       819,634 $   4,062,031 

See accompanying notes.  5 



        

                                                                        

                                                                                          

     

                                                  

                                                                                      

                                                                                      

                                                            

                                                                                       

                                                                                           

                                                       

                                                                                       

                                                                                       

                                                                                       

                                                             

                                                                                  

                                                                           

                                                                                      

                                                                   

                                    

                                                           

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

For the year ended June 30, 2021 

Number 
of Regular Special Other Management 

Positions Education Education Program and General Total 
Administrative personnel 3.0 $                     - $                   - $                 - $       260,095 $      260,095 
Instructional personnel 23.0 959,185 93,317 - - 1,052,502 
Non-instructional personnel 1.6 - - 143,460 - 143,460 

27.6 $        959,185 $         93,317 $    143,460 $       260,095 $   1,456,057 

Salaries $        959,185 $         93,317 $    143,460 $       260,095 $   1,456,057 
Employee benefits and payroll taxes 251,670 22,538 33,806 67,613 375,627 
Afterschool program - - 67,500 - 67,500 
Classroom supplies and materials 38,572 - - - 38,572 
Consultants and professional fees 25,000 82,670 - 126,617 234,287 
Insurance - - - 47,849 47,849 
Interest - - - 8,879 8,879 
Occupancy 150,342 9,396 9,396 18,793 187,927 
Office expense - - - 26,232 26,232 
Other expenses - - - 13,481 13,481 
Recruitment - - - 12,931 12,931 
Repairs and maintenance 55,529 3,470 3,470 6,942 69,411 
Staff development 126,674 - - - 126,674 
Student services 23,180 - 12,985 - 36,165 
Technology 87,459 - - - 87,459 
Telephone 12,921 808 808 1,615 16,152 

1,730,532 212,199 271,425 591,047 2,805,203 
Depreciation 54,539 1,149 1,149 13,699 70,536 

Total $    1,785,071 $      213,348 $    272,574 $       604,746 $   2,875,739 

See accompanying notes.  6 



                      

                            

             

             

                        

                      

             

                     

                

                          

                

                      

                   

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended June 30, 2022 2021 

Operating activities: 
Cash received from enrollment fees 
Cash received from contributions - federal, state, and local awards 
Cash received from other sources 
Payments to employees for services and benefits 
Payments to vendors and suppliers 
Interest paid 

$      3,803,156 
568,881 

38,971 
(2,346,763) 
(1,097,111) 

(181,804) 

$      3,084,396 
636,415 

10,430 
(1,797,499) 
(1,012,598) 

(8,879) 

Net operating activities 785,330 912,265 

Investing activities: 
Property and equipment expenditures (3,100,589) (5,515,339) 

Financing activities: 
Net proceeds from (payments on) short-term borrowings 
Proceeds from long-term debt, net 
Principal payments on long-term debt 

(400,000) 
2,964,234 

(26,843) 

400,000 
4,518,486 

(8,349) 

Net financing activities 2,537,391 4,910,137 

Net change in cash and restricted cash 222,132 307,063 

Cash and restricted cash - beginning 1,302,978 995,915 

Cash and restricted cash - ending $      1,525,110 $      1,302,978 

See accompanying notes.  7 



  

  

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Notes to Financial Statements 

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

Organization and Purpose: 

Persistence Preparatory Academy Charter School (the School) 
operates a charter school in the City of Buffalo, New York (the 
City) pursuant to its charter agreement with the Board of 
Regents of the University of the State of New York. The 
School offered classes from kindergarten through fourth 
grade in 2022 and plans to add one grade per year until a full 
kindergarten through eighth grade school. The School is 
chartered through June 2023 and continued operations are 
contingent upon approval of its charter renewal, which 
management expects to receive in 2023. 

Subsequent Events: 

Management has evaluated events and transactions for 
potential recognition or disclosure through October 24, 2022, 
the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 

Cash: 

Cash in financial institutions potentially subjects the School to 
concentrations of credit risk, since it may exceed insured 
limits at various times throughout the year. The School 
complies with a requirement to hold no less than $75,000 in 
an escrow account to pay legal and audit expenses that would 
be associated with dissolution should it occur.  This is included 
as restricted cash on the balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 
and 2021. 

At June 30, 2022, the School maintains $395,745 ($395,681 at 
June 30, 2021) in cash restricted by various debt agreements. 

Property and Equipment: 

Property and equipment is stated at cost net of accumulated 
depreciation.  Depreciation is provided over estimated asset 
service lives using the straight-line method. Maintenance and 
repairs are charged to operations as incurred; significant 
improvements are capitalized. 

Revenue Recognition: 

Enrollment Fees 
Enrollment fees are received from the public-school districts 
where the student resides. The amount received each year 
from the resident district is generally the product of the 
approved operating expense per pupil and the full time 
equivalent enrollment of the students in the School residing in 
that district. The respective districts also reimburse the 
School for special education service based on approved 
applicable rates for the services provided.  Revenues are 
recognized over the period the services are provided.  The 
School generally invoices the resident district bimonthly and 
payment is due in 30 days. Enrollment fees received in 
advance are deferred and recognized when earned. The 
School’s enrollment fees are received primarily from the City 
School District. 

Contributions 
Contributions are reported at fair value at the date the pledge 
or award is received. Contributions are recorded as restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit 
their use. When a donor restriction expires, net assets with 
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net 
assets released from restrictions. Contributions received with 
donor-imposed restrictions that are met in the same reporting 
period are shown as support without donor restrictions. 

Conditional contributions, primarily government awards, are 
recorded as revenue when the School meets requirements in 
compliance with specific agreements. Amounts received 
before the required conditions are met are reported as 
refundable advances on the accompanying balance sheets.  
These conditional contributions are subject to compliance and 
financial audits by the funding sources.  Management believes 
no significant adjustments are necessary to recognized 
amounts. 

Receivables 
Receivables are stated at the amounts management expects 
to collect from outstanding balances. Balances that are 
outstanding after management has used reasonable 
collection efforts are written off through a charge to 
uncollectible receivables and a credit to accounts receivable. 
An allowance for doubtful accounts is considered unnecessary 
by management because all significant amounts deemed 
uncollectible are written off each year. 
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Income Taxes: 

The School is a 501(c)(3) organization exempt from taxation 
under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

Transportation and Food Services: 

The City School District provides the School with certain 
transportation and food services at no charge. The value of 
these services has not been recorded in the accompanying 
financial statements. 

Use of Estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Functional Expense Allocation: 

The School’s costs of providing its various programs and 
activities have been summarized on a functional basis in the 
statements of functional expenses.  Accordingly, certain costs 
have been allocated among the programs and supporting 
services benefited.  These costs include salaries, benefits, and 
payroll taxes, which are allocated based on estimates of time 
and effort, and occupancy, depreciation, and interest which 
are allocated based on management’s estimate of program 
benefit. 

Reclassifications: 

The 2021 financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform with the presentation adopted in 2022. 

2.  Receivables: 

2022 2021 
Enrollment fees $ 16,098 $ 61,348 
Contributions 176,548 177,904 
Other 1,350 171 

$ 193,996 $ 239,423 

3.  Property and Equipment: 

2022 2021 
Land $ 31,500 $ 31,500 
Building improvements 11,470 237,606 
Building 8,619,684 309,835 
Instructional and office equipment 403,113 282,302 
Construction in progress - 6,456,845 

9,065,767 7,318,088 
Less accumulated depreciation 404,539 342,275 

$ 8,661,228 $ 6,975,813 

Construction in progress at June 30, 2021 consisted of costs 
incurred in connection with renovation of a building that 
serves as the new location for the School. The $8.3 million 
project, which was completed in October 2021, was primarily 
financed with a bank loan (Note 5). 

Interest totaling $156,023 was capitalized during the year 
ended June 30, 2022. 

4.  Short-Term Borrowings: 

The School has available a $400,000 bank demand line of 
credit for working capital secured by essentially all assets of 
the School with interest payable at prime plus 0.5%. The line 
is subject to the usual terms and conditions applied by the 
bank for working capital financing and is annually reviewed 
and renewed.  Borrowings on the line of credit at June 30, 
2021 totaled $400,000; there were no amounts outstanding 
at June 30, 2022. 

5.  Long-Term Debt: 

2022 2021 
Bank promissory note, interest only 

payments through March 2022, 
monthly installments of $43,479 
including interest at 4.7%, 
estimated balloon payment of 
$6,998,000 due December 2025, 
secured by School property and 
equipment. $ 7,624,467 $ 4,700,767 

Equipment loans, varying monthly 
installments and interest rates, 
secured by related equipment, due 
through June 2024. 3,362 5,522 

7,627,829 4,706,289 
Less unamortized debt issuance costs 166,430 182,281 

7,461,399 4,524,008 
Less current portion 121,070 11,168 

$ 7,340,329 $ 4,512,840 

Debt issuance costs are amortized as interest expense over 
the term of the bank construction loan. 
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Aggregate maturities of net long-term debt balances 
subsequent to June 30, 2022 are: 

2023 $ 121,070 
2024 129,146 
2025 135,840 
2026 7,075,343 

$ 7,461,399 

The bank debt agreements contain restrictive covenants 
relative to debt service coverage, liquid assets levels, and net 
assets levels.  

6.  Net Assets With Donor Restrictions: 

Net assets with donor restrictions at June 30, 2021 were 
available for use by the School to provide additional financial 
support for specific student purposes stipulated by the donor. 

7.  Retirement Plan: 

The School participates in a multiple employer 401(k) pension 
plan covering essentially all employees. The School 
contributes 6% of employees’ salaries to the plan, subject to 
certain limitations. The School’s pension expense was $77,608 
and $74,803 for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. 

As of August 2022, the School also participates in the New 
York State Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS) which is a cost-
sharing multiple employer public employee retirement 
system. 

8. Cash Flows Information: 

Property and equipment expenditures included in accounts 
payable totaling $1,115,304 are excluded from the 2021 
statement of cash flows. 

9. Financial Assets Available for Operating Purposes: 

The School obtains financial assets generally through 
enrollment fees and contributions. The financial assets are 
acquired throughout the year to help meet the School’s cash 
needs for general expenditures. If necessary, the School also 
has access to a $400,000 bank demand line of credit (Note 4). 

The School’s financial assets available within one year of the 
balance sheet date to meet cash needs for general 
expenditures consist of the following at June 30, 2022 and 
2021: 

2022 2021 
Cash available for operations $ 1,054,365 $ 832,297 
Receivables 225,578 239,423 

$ 1,279,943 $ 1,071,720 

10.  Risks and Uncertainties due to COVID-19: 

On January 31, 2020, the United States Secretary of Health 
and Human Services (HHS) declared a public health 
emergency related to the global spread of coronavirus COVID-
19, and a pandemic was declared by the World Health 
Organization in February 2020. Efforts to fight the widespread 
disease included limiting or closing many businesses and all 
schools and resulted in a severe disruption of operations for 
many organizations. 

In 2020, the School received a loan totaling $254,452 from the 
Small Business Administration (SBA) under the Paycheck 
Protection Program of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act, in response to the pandemic.  
The School received SBA forgiveness on the loan in 2021 and 
the proceeds have been recognized as contributions revenue 
in the accompanying 2021 statement of activities. 

The full extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the School’s 
operational and financial performance will depend on further 
developments, including the duration and spread of the 
outbreak, and its impact on schools, including its students and 
families, employees, and vendors, none of which can be 
predicted. 
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the School’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

October 24, 2022 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 24, 2022 on our 
consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters.  The purpose of that report 
is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

October 24, 2022 
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PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Balance Sheets 

June 30, 2022 2021 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash 

Receivables (Note 2) 
Prepaid expenses 

$      1,054,365 
193,996 

11,448 
1,259,809 

$          832,297 
239,423 

37,837 
1,109,557 

Property and equipment, net (Note 3) 8,661,228 6,975,813 

Restricted cash 470,745 470,681 

Other 11,065 2,145 

$    10,402,847 $      8,558,196 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
Current liabilities: 

Short-term borrowings (Note 4) 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 5) 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 

$                       -

121,070 
130,417 
103,795 
355,282 

$          400,000 
11,168 

1,154,562 
74,761 

1,640,491 

Long-term debt (Note 5) 7,340,329 4,512,840 

Net assets: 
Without donor restrictions 
With donor restrictions (Note 6) 

2,707,236 
-

2,707,236 

2,394,765 
10,100 

2,404,865 

$    10,402,847 $      8,558,196 

See accompanying notes.  3 



                      

                      

                                   

                          

                          

                

                

                      

                      

                      

                

                   

                                     

                        

                        

                   

                

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statements of Activities 

For the years ended June 30, 2022 2021 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions: 
Support and revenue: 

Enrollment fees: 
Resident students 
Students with disabilities 

Contributions: 

Federal, state, and local awards 
Paycheck Protection Program (Note 10) 

Other income 
Net assets released from restrictions 

Total support and revenue 

$     3,565,311 
192,595 

567,525 
-

38,971 
10,100 

4,374,502 

$     2,952,431 
106,155 

680,855 
254,452 

10,430 
94,719 

4,099,042 

Expenses: 
Program expenses: 

Regular education 
Special education 
Other program 

Supporting services: 
Management and general 

Total expenses 

2,590,023 
286,059 
366,315 

819,634 
4,062,031 

1,785,071 
213,348 
272,574 

604,746 
2,875,739 

Change in net assets without donor restrictions 312,471 1,223,303 

Net assets with donor restrictions: 
Contributions 
Net assets released from restrictions 

-

(10,100) 
10,100 

(94,719) 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions (10,100) (84,619) 

Change in net assets 302,371 1,138,684 

Net assets - beginning 2,404,865 1,266,181 

Net assets - ending $     2,707,236 $     2,404,865 

See accompanying notes.  4 



        

                                                                 

                                                                                        

     

                                                

                                                                                     

                                                                                

                                                           

                                                                                     

                                                    

                                                    

                                                                                     

                                                                                     

                                                                                          

                                                    

                                                                                     

                                                                                     

                                                                                     

                                                            

                                                                                     

                                  

                                                

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Number 
of Regular Special Other Management 

Positions Education Education Program and General Total 
Administrative personnel 4.4 $                     - $                   - $                 - $       318,752 $      318,752 
Instructional personnel 27.0 1,314,999 134,998 - - 1,449,997 
Non-instructional personnel 2.0 - - 154,429 - 154,429 

33.4 $    1,314,999 $      134,998 $    154,429 $       318,752 $   1,923,178 

Salaries $    1,314,999 $      134,998 $    154,429 $       318,752 $   1,923,178 
Employee benefits and payroll taxes 308,678 31,689 36,250 74,823 451,440 
Afterschool program - - 50,000 - 50,000 
Classroom supplies and materials 113,684 - - - 113,684 
Consultants and professional fees 27,350 75,836 - 149,175 252,361 
Insurance - - - 79,002 79,002 
Interest 145,442 9,091 9,091 18,180 181,804 
Occupancy 132,424 8,277 8,277 16,553 165,531 
Office expense - - - 38,218 38,218 
Other expenses - - - 37,341 37,341 
Recruitment - - - 9,253 9,253 
Repairs and maintenance 151,016 9,438 9,438 18,876 188,768 
Staff development 49,215 - - - 49,215 
Student services - - 82,100 - 82,100 
Technology 79,523 - - - 79,523 
Telephone 27,795 1,737 1,737 3,474 34,743 
Bad debts - - - 26,000 26,000 

2,350,126 271,066 351,322 789,647 3,762,161 
Depreciation 239,897 14,993 14,993 29,987 299,870 

Total $    2,590,023 $      286,059 $    366,315 $       819,634 $   4,062,031 

See accompanying notes.  5 



        

                                                                        

                                                                                          

     

                                                  

                                                                                      

                                                                                      

                                                            

                                                                                       

                                                                                           

                                                       

                                                                                       

                                                                                       

                                                                                       

                                                             

                                                                                  

                                                                           

                                                                                      

                                                                   

                                    

                                                           

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

For the year ended June 30, 2021 

Number 
of Regular Special Other Management 

Positions Education Education Program and General Total 
Administrative personnel 3.0 $                     - $                   - $                 - $       260,095 $      260,095 
Instructional personnel 23.0 959,185 93,317 - - 1,052,502 
Non-instructional personnel 1.6 - - 143,460 - 143,460 

27.6 $        959,185 $         93,317 $    143,460 $       260,095 $   1,456,057 

Salaries $        959,185 $         93,317 $    143,460 $       260,095 $   1,456,057 
Employee benefits and payroll taxes 251,670 22,538 33,806 67,613 375,627 
Afterschool program - - 67,500 - 67,500 
Classroom supplies and materials 38,572 - - - 38,572 
Consultants and professional fees 25,000 82,670 - 126,617 234,287 
Insurance - - - 47,849 47,849 
Interest - - - 8,879 8,879 
Occupancy 150,342 9,396 9,396 18,793 187,927 
Office expense - - - 26,232 26,232 
Other expenses - - - 13,481 13,481 
Recruitment - - - 12,931 12,931 
Repairs and maintenance 55,529 3,470 3,470 6,942 69,411 
Staff development 126,674 - - - 126,674 
Student services 23,180 - 12,985 - 36,165 
Technology 87,459 - - - 87,459 
Telephone 12,921 808 808 1,615 16,152 

1,730,532 212,199 271,425 591,047 2,805,203 
Depreciation 54,539 1,149 1,149 13,699 70,536 

Total $    1,785,071 $      213,348 $    272,574 $       604,746 $   2,875,739 

See accompanying notes.  6 



                      

                            

             

             

                        

                      

             

                     

                

                          

                

                      

                   

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended June 30, 2022 2021 

Operating activities: 
Cash received from enrollment fees 
Cash received from contributions - federal, state, and local awards 
Cash received from other sources 
Payments to employees for services and benefits 
Payments to vendors and suppliers 
Interest paid 

$      3,803,156 
568,881 

38,971 
(2,346,763) 
(1,097,111) 

(181,804) 

$      3,084,396 
636,415 

10,430 
(1,797,499) 
(1,012,598) 

(8,879) 

Net operating activities 785,330 912,265 

Investing activities: 
Property and equipment expenditures (3,100,589) (5,515,339) 

Financing activities: 
Net proceeds from (payments on) short-term borrowings 
Proceeds from long-term debt, net 
Principal payments on long-term debt 

(400,000) 
2,964,234 

(26,843) 

400,000 
4,518,486 

(8,349) 

Net financing activities 2,537,391 4,910,137 

Net change in cash and restricted cash 222,132 307,063 

Cash and restricted cash - beginning 1,302,978 995,915 

Cash and restricted cash - ending $      1,525,110 $      1,302,978 

See accompanying notes.  7 



  

  

PERSISTENCE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CHARTER SCHOOL 

Notes to Financial Statements 

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

Organization and Purpose: 

Persistence Preparatory Academy Charter School (the School) 
operates a charter school in the City of Buffalo, New York (the 
City) pursuant to its charter agreement with the Board of 
Regents of the University of the State of New York. The 
School offered classes from kindergarten through fourth 
grade in 2022 and plans to add one grade per year until a full 
kindergarten through eighth grade school. The School is 
chartered through June 2023 and continued operations are 
contingent upon approval of its charter renewal, which 
management expects to receive in 2023. 

Subsequent Events: 

Management has evaluated events and transactions for 
potential recognition or disclosure through October 24, 2022, 
the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 

Cash: 

Cash in financial institutions potentially subjects the School to 
concentrations of credit risk, since it may exceed insured 
limits at various times throughout the year. The School 
complies with a requirement to hold no less than $75,000 in 
an escrow account to pay legal and audit expenses that would 
be associated with dissolution should it occur.  This is included 
as restricted cash on the balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 
and 2021. 

At June 30, 2022, the School maintains $395,745 ($395,681 at 
June 30, 2021) in cash restricted by various debt agreements. 

Property and Equipment: 

Property and equipment is stated at cost net of accumulated 
depreciation.  Depreciation is provided over estimated asset 
service lives using the straight-line method. Maintenance and 
repairs are charged to operations as incurred; significant 
improvements are capitalized. 

Revenue Recognition: 

Enrollment Fees 
Enrollment fees are received from the public-school districts 
where the student resides. The amount received each year 
from the resident district is generally the product of the 
approved operating expense per pupil and the full time 
equivalent enrollment of the students in the School residing in 
that district. The respective districts also reimburse the 
School for special education service based on approved 
applicable rates for the services provided.  Revenues are 
recognized over the period the services are provided.  The 
School generally invoices the resident district bimonthly and 
payment is due in 30 days. Enrollment fees received in 
advance are deferred and recognized when earned. The 
School’s enrollment fees are received primarily from the City 
School District. 

Contributions 
Contributions are reported at fair value at the date the pledge 
or award is received. Contributions are recorded as restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit 
their use. When a donor restriction expires, net assets with 
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net 
assets released from restrictions. Contributions received with 
donor-imposed restrictions that are met in the same reporting 
period are shown as support without donor restrictions. 

Conditional contributions, primarily government awards, are 
recorded as revenue when the School meets requirements in 
compliance with specific agreements. Amounts received 
before the required conditions are met are reported as 
refundable advances on the accompanying balance sheets.  
These conditional contributions are subject to compliance and 
financial audits by the funding sources.  Management believes 
no significant adjustments are necessary to recognized 
amounts. 

Receivables 
Receivables are stated at the amounts management expects 
to collect from outstanding balances. Balances that are 
outstanding after management has used reasonable 
collection efforts are written off through a charge to 
uncollectible receivables and a credit to accounts receivable. 
An allowance for doubtful accounts is considered unnecessary 
by management because all significant amounts deemed 
uncollectible are written off each year. 
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Income Taxes: 

The School is a 501(c)(3) organization exempt from taxation 
under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

Transportation and Food Services: 

The City School District provides the School with certain 
transportation and food services at no charge. The value of 
these services has not been recorded in the accompanying 
financial statements. 

Use of Estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Functional Expense Allocation: 

The School’s costs of providing its various programs and 
activities have been summarized on a functional basis in the 
statements of functional expenses.  Accordingly, certain costs 
have been allocated among the programs and supporting 
services benefited.  These costs include salaries, benefits, and 
payroll taxes, which are allocated based on estimates of time 
and effort, and occupancy, depreciation, and interest which 
are allocated based on management’s estimate of program 
benefit. 

Reclassifications: 

The 2021 financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform with the presentation adopted in 2022. 

2.  Receivables: 

2022 2021 
Enrollment fees $ 16,098 $ 61,348 
Contributions 176,548 177,904 
Other 1,350 171 

$ 193,996 $ 239,423 

3.  Property and Equipment: 

2022 2021 
Land $ 31,500 $ 31,500 
Building improvements 11,470 237,606 
Building 8,619,684 309,835 
Instructional and office equipment 403,113 282,302 
Construction in progress - 6,456,845 

9,065,767 7,318,088 
Less accumulated depreciation 404,539 342,275 

$ 8,661,228 $ 6,975,813 

Construction in progress at June 30, 2021 consisted of costs 
incurred in connection with renovation of a building that 
serves as the new location for the School. The $8.3 million 
project, which was completed in October 2021, was primarily 
financed with a bank loan (Note 5). 

Interest totaling $156,023 was capitalized during the year 
ended June 30, 2022. 

4.  Short-Term Borrowings: 

The School has available a $400,000 bank demand line of 
credit for working capital secured by essentially all assets of 
the School with interest payable at prime plus 0.5%. The line 
is subject to the usual terms and conditions applied by the 
bank for working capital financing and is annually reviewed 
and renewed.  Borrowings on the line of credit at June 30, 
2021 totaled $400,000; there were no amounts outstanding 
at June 30, 2022. 

5.  Long-Term Debt: 

2022 2021 
Bank promissory note, interest only 

payments through March 2022, 
monthly installments of $43,479 
including interest at 4.7%, 
estimated balloon payment of 
$6,998,000 due December 2025, 
secured by School property and 
equipment. $ 7,624,467 $ 4,700,767 

Equipment loans, varying monthly 
installments and interest rates, 
secured by related equipment, due 
through June 2024. 3,362 5,522 

7,627,829 4,706,289 
Less unamortized debt issuance costs 166,430 182,281 

7,461,399 4,524,008 
Less current portion 121,070 11,168 

$ 7,340,329 $ 4,512,840 

Debt issuance costs are amortized as interest expense over 
the term of the bank construction loan. 

9 



  

  

Aggregate maturities of net long-term debt balances 
subsequent to June 30, 2022 are: 

2023 $ 121,070 
2024 129,146 
2025 135,840 
2026 7,075,343 

$ 7,461,399 

The bank debt agreements contain restrictive covenants 
relative to debt service coverage, liquid assets levels, and net 
assets levels.  

6.  Net Assets With Donor Restrictions: 

Net assets with donor restrictions at June 30, 2021 were 
available for use by the School to provide additional financial 
support for specific student purposes stipulated by the donor. 

7.  Retirement Plan: 

The School participates in a multiple employer 401(k) pension 
plan covering essentially all employees. The School 
contributes 6% of employees’ salaries to the plan, subject to 
certain limitations. The School’s pension expense was $77,608 
and $74,803 for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. 

As of August 2022, the School also participates in the New 
York State Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS) which is a cost-
sharing multiple employer public employee retirement 
system. 

8. Cash Flows Information: 

Property and equipment expenditures included in accounts 
payable totaling $1,115,304 are excluded from the 2021 
statement of cash flows. 

9. Financial Assets Available for Operating Purposes: 

The School obtains financial assets generally through 
enrollment fees and contributions. The financial assets are 
acquired throughout the year to help meet the School’s cash 
needs for general expenditures. If necessary, the School also 
has access to a $400,000 bank demand line of credit (Note 4). 

The School’s financial assets available within one year of the 
balance sheet date to meet cash needs for general 
expenditures consist of the following at June 30, 2022 and 
2021: 

2022 2021 
Cash available for operations $ 1,054,365 $ 832,297 
Receivables 225,578 239,423 

$ 1,279,943 $ 1,071,720 

10.  Risks and Uncertainties due to COVID-19: 

On January 31, 2020, the United States Secretary of Health 
and Human Services (HHS) declared a public health 
emergency related to the global spread of coronavirus COVID-
19, and a pandemic was declared by the World Health 
Organization in February 2020. Efforts to fight the widespread 
disease included limiting or closing many businesses and all 
schools and resulted in a severe disruption of operations for 
many organizations. 

In 2020, the School received a loan totaling $254,452 from the 
Small Business Administration (SBA) under the Paycheck 
Protection Program of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act, in response to the pandemic.  
The School received SBA forgiveness on the loan in 2021 and 
the proceeds have been recognized as contributions revenue 
in the accompanying 2021 statement of activities. 

The full extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the School’s 
operational and financial performance will depend on further 
developments, including the duration and spread of the 
outbreak, and its impact on schools, including its students and 
families, employees, and vendors, none of which can be 
predicted. 

10 





Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the School’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

October 24, 2022 
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July 26, 2021 
8:00-9:30am 
833 Michigan Avenue Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

V. Review of Monthly Financials and 
Narrative 

Treasurer • June 2021 Financials 
• Draft only- awaiting 

year end financials for 
official approval 

8:55am 

VI.  Facilities Progress Update Head of School 
Facilities 
Committee 

• List of Outstanding 
Work & Deadlines 

• Start of School 
Contingency Plan 

• Discussion around next 
steps at facility 

• Internal deadline to 
enact contingency plan-
messaging to 
stakeholders 

9:05am 

VII. Management Report Head of School • June Management 
Report 

• Monthly Dashboard 
• Fully hired and fully 

enrolled 

9:20am 

VIII. TNTP Insight Survey Results Head of School 
Academic 
Committee 

• TNTP Insight Survey 
Results 

• Leadership Team 
Strategic Plan for 21-22 

• A focus on learning 
acceleration 

• 3 year Science of 
Reading strategy in 
progress 

9:35am 

IX. 2021-2022 Board Annual Calendar Head of School 
Board Chair 

• 2021-2022 Board 
Annual Calendar 

9:55am VOTE 
1st: KC 2nd: TM 
FOR: DG, AW, KN, 
KC, TM, ET, MR, CR 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair 

B. Adjourn Meeting 
DG @ 9:36am VOTE 

1st: MR 2nd: AW 
FOR: DG, AW, KN, 
KC, TM, ET, MR, CR 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

XI. Executive Session 

Executive session if 
needed 
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August 23, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
833 Michigan Ave Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 
Buffalo, NY 14203 

board retreat 

Finance: working on 
alternative solution to missing 
Supplemental Aid payment 

Academic: no updates at this 
time 

Facilities: Contingency plan 
enacted; update on 
construction timeline and use 
of hard cost contingency; 
drain tile installed to assist 
with water issues 

Development: Director of Ops 

V. SY 20-21 Year End Financials Treasurer SY 20-21 Draft 8:55am 
financials 

*no official vote as still in 
draft form 

V. Review & Approval of July 2021 
Financials 

Treasurer July 2021 financials 9:05am VOTE 
1st: MR 2nd: TM 
FOR: DG, KN, KC, 
TM, MR, CR, DH 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VI. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  Monthly Management 9:15am 
School Narrative 

 Enrollment & Staffing 
Dashboards 

VII. SY 21-22 Readiness Head of  Readiness Summary 9:25am 
School  21-22 Priority Plan 

 COVID Reentry Plan 

VIII. ESSER Funding Input Head of  ESSER Funding Plan Draft 9:35am 
School  Board in agreement with 

plan as outlined- heavy 
focus on talent 
development and staff 
retention 

IX. Approval of 21-22 PPA Safety 
Plan 

Director of 
Operations 

 School Safety Plan Draft 
 Approval of district level 

plan; ready to be posted 
to site 

 Team assembled (board 
members, Leadership, 

9:50am VOTE 
1st: TM 2nd: KC 
FOR: DG, KN, KC, 
TM, MR, CR, DH 
AGAINST: N/A 

ABSTAIN: N/A 

teachers, parents) to 
complete building level 
plan 

 DOO attended ALICE 
training- will train staff 
this Fall 

2 



 
  

   
 

    

 

 

 

 
      

   
 

 

 
  

    

 
   

    
 

 
   

   
   

 
  

 
  

       

 

August 23, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
833 Michigan Ave Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 
Buffalo, NY 14203 

X. Closing Items 

A. Next Steps 

B. Adjourn Meeting 

Chair 

Meeting adjourned at 9:46am 

10:00am 

VOTE 
1st: TM 2nd: KN 
FOR: DG, KN, KC, 
TM, MR, CR, DH 
AGAINST: N/A 

ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session if needed 
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September 27, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee 
Chairs 8:45am 

V. Review & Approval of August 
2021 Financials 

Treasurer August 2021 8:55am 
financials 

No major variances-
lots of timing 
differences due to 
start of year 

VOTE 
1st: MR 2nd: DH 
FOR: KN, ET, AW, TM, 
CR, DH, MR, DW 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VI. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  Monthly Management 9:05am 
School Narrative 

 Enrollment & Staffing 
Dashboards – 2 new 
hires; 2 vacancies to 
date 

 Transportation 
Landscape Overview-
more info coming as JF 
gathers from other 
charter leaders 

VII. Facility Readiness Head of  Facilities Timeline & 9:20am 
School Update 
Facility  Moving over the 
Committee October 8th-12th 

weekend 
 First day for scholars 

October 13th 

VIII. BOY Diagnostic Academic Data Head of  BOY Assessment 9:35am 
School Dashboard 

 Overview of DIBELS 
 New acceleration block 

driven by DIBELS data-
determined Tier 2 & 3 
interventions 

IX. Charter Renewal Process Head of  Overview of SUNY CSI 9:50am 
School Charter Renewal 

 Summary of next steps 
 4 major guiding 

questions 
 Looking into 

SchoolWorks School 
Quality review 

X. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair 

B. Adjourn Meeting 
Motion to adjourn at 
9:31am 

VOTE 
1st: DP 2nd: CR 
FOR: KN, ET, AW, TM, 
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September 27, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 

Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes Via Zoom 

CR, DH, MR, DW 
AGAINST: N/A 

ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session if 
needed 
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October 25, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

AW, DP 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee  
Chairs 

 

 

 

 

Finance: audit completed; presentation 
later in meeting 
Governance: new slate of officers up for 
approval 
Development: Ongoing outreach; ribbon 
cutting outreach & follow-up 
Facilities: updated progress on new 
building; outstanding items from first few 
weeks 
Academic: no new data; awaiting state 
test scores 

V. Review & Approval of September 
2021 Financials 

Treasurer September 2021 financials VOTE 
1st: ET 2nd: CR Will monitor a few timing differences in 
FOR: MR, KC, DG, the next month (i.e. cleaning contract, 
KN, ET, CR, DH, new utilities, etc.) 
AW, DP Current ratio up from prior month 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VI. Review & Approval of Updated 
Year End 2020-2021 Financials 

Treasurer June 2021 financials (updated October 
2021) 

VII. PPA 20-21 Audit Presentation Lumsden McCormick 2020-2021 Audit Findings VOTE 
1st: KN 2nd: CR No material findings 
FOR: MR, KC, DG, Clean opinion issued 
KN, ET, CR, DH, 
AW, DP 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VIII. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  
School 

 

Monthly Management Narrative 
o Ongoing academic support 

through Lavinia Group 
o SchoolWorks proposal under 

review for School Quality review 
o Community outreach/events in 

new neighborhood 
o Family tours & ribbon cutting 

completed 
Enrollment & Staffing Dashboards 

o 1 new hire; 1 remaining vacancy 
(RtI Math) 

o 2 students under budget-
outstanding enrollment offers out 

IX.  PPA Governance Updates 
Head of  
School 

New Slate of Officers approved VOTE 
o Chair: Elisha Tomasello 1st: AW 2nd: MR 
o Vice Chair: Catherine Roberts FOR: MR, KC, DG, 
o Secretary: Darnell Haywood KN, ET, CR, DH, 
o Treasurer: Kevin Celniker AW, DP 

AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Closing Items 
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October 25, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

A. Next Steps 

B. Adjourn Meeting 

Chair 

Meeting adjourned @ 9:37am VOTE 
1st: KC 2nd: AW 
FOR: MR, KC, DG, 
KN, ET, CR, DH, 
AW, DP 

AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

XI. Executive Session 

Executive session not needed at this time 
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November 22, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

ABSTAIN: N/A 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee 
Chairs 8:40am 

V. Charter Law: Special Education, 
Transportation & the Responsibilities 
of the District 

Head of School Charter Law: SPED & 8:45am 
Anna Hall, NY Transportation 
Charters Anna provided update 

to board and 
recommended next 
steps around SPED 
and transportation 

PPA will be submitting 
transportation letter 
to district in January 

VI. Review & Approval of October 
2021 Financials 

Treasurer October 2021 financials 9:15am 

Current ratio impacted 
by timing differences 
at end of October 
(receipt of BPS 
payment with 
address change, 
timing of final 
construction draw) 

Cash deposit made and 
update provided on 
day of meeting- 
current ratio back to 
strong position 

VOTE 
1st: AW 2nd: DG 
FOR: AW, ET, KN, 
DH, DG, TM, MR, 
CR, DP 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VII. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  Enrollment & Staffing 9:25am 
School Dashboards – 2 scholars 

below budget- continue to 
make outreach and offers 

 Application window opens 
on December 1st for 
SY22-23 

 2021 State Test Scores – 
difficult to analyze given 
COVID and lack of 
validity; will await MOY 
assessment scores to 
deeply analyze academic 
strength of school 

IX. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair 

B. Adjourn Meeting 
Meeting adjourned @ 9:46am VOTE 

1st: MR 2nd: CR 
FOR: AW, ET, KN, 
DH, DG, TM, MR, 
CR, DP 
AGAINST: N/A 
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November 22, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session not 
needed 
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December 20, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

DP 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee 
Chairs 8:40am 

V. Review & Approval of November 
2021 Financials 

Treasurer November 2021 9:15am VOTE 
financials 1st: AW 2nd: MR 

FOR: ET, KN, DG, No major variances to 
AW, BF, KC, MR, CR, note 
DP ESSER and Title grant 
AGAINST: N/A money delayed due 
ABSTAIN: N/A to grant review; 

expected to receive 
soon 

VI. Approval of New Trustee Chair Aaron Bennett Resume- 9:25am VOTE 
Governance trustees voted to 1st: CR 2nd: KC 
Committee approve appointment FOR: ET, KN, DG, 

& add Aaron to AW, BF, KC, MR, CR, 
board DP 

AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VII. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  Enrollment & Staffing 9:30am 
School Dashboards – 4th grade 

long-term sub needed; 
enrollment back on 
budget target 

 Scholar & Family Survey-
overwhelming family 
satisfaction continues 

 2022 School Priorities – 
progress to goals to be 
reported out monthly 

VIII. Charter Renewal Process Head of  Deep dive #1 into 9:45am 
School board’s role in renewal 

 Begin policy review at 
each month’s meeting 

XII. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair Joelle to connect directly 

with committee chairs for 
January meetings & 
ongoing schedule 

Reach out to new trustee 
for onboarding 

Begin monthly review of 2 
board policies to prepare 
for renewal 

B. Adjourn Meeting 
VOTE 
1st: BF 2nd: CR 
FOR: ET, KN, DG, 
AW, BF, KC, MR, CR, 
DP 
AGAINST: N/A 

ABSTAIN: N/A 
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December 20, 2021 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session if needed 
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January 24, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Agenda 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee 
Chairs 8:40am 

V. Review & Approval of December 
2021 Financials 

Treasurer December 2021 9:00am 
financials 

VOTE 

VI. Review/ Approval of Check 
Signing Resolution 

Head of School Resolution 9:10am 
Finance Committee 

VOTE 

VII. Review/ Approval of Buffalo 
Urban League Lease Amendment 

Head of School BUL lease change 9:20am 
Facilities Committee requests 

Original lease 

VOTE 

VII. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  Monthly Management 9:30am 
School Narrative 

 Enrollment & Staffing 
Dashboards 

 MOY DIBELS Data 
 2022 School Priorities 

VIII. Charter Policy Review Head of  Policy Review: 9:45am 
School o Decision & Policy 
Governance Making 
Committee o Open Meeting 

Law 
o Attendance 

XII. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair SchoolWorks Board Focus 
Head of School Group 

B. Adjourn Meeting 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session if needed 
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March 1, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

A. Approval of: January Meeting 
Minutes, Committee Meeting 
Minutes 

VOTE 
1st: AW  2nd: KC 
FOR: ET, KC, BF, TM, 
KN, DH, AW, CR, 
DP, AB 
AGAINST: n/a 
ABSTAIN: n/a 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee 
Chairs 8:40am 

V. Review & Approval of January 
2021 Financials 

Treasurer January 2021 financials 9:00am 

Current ratio 
strengthening post-
construction 

No major new variances 
to report 

Positive net income 
compared to budget 

Enrollment remains in line 
with budget 

VOTE 
1st: BF  2nd: KN 
FOR: ET, KC, BF, TM, 
KN, DH, AW, CR, 
DP, AB 
AGAINST: n/a 
ABSTAIN: n/a 

VI. Review of FIF Loan P&I Schedule Head of School 
Finance Committee 

Projected P&I schedule 9:10am 

Reviewed- payments 
begin April 1, 2022 

VII. School Quality Review- Executive 
Summary 

Head of School 
School Leadership 
Team 

SchoolWorks Executive 9:15am 
Summary 

Action Plan – increasing 
use of variety of 
instructional 
strategies 

Follow-up: Joelle will 
request rating scale 
in final report 

VII. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  
School 

 

 

 

 

Monthly Management 9:30am 
Narrative 
Enrollment & Staffing 
Dashboards – enrollment 
remains constant & at 
budget; new 4th grade 
teacher hired to begin 
3/1 
MOY MAP Data Graphs 
– tracking progress to 
goals (75% of scholars hit 
growth RIT score & 
median conditional 
growth percentile meets 
or exceeds 55) 
Cullen: Good to Great 
budget underway 
(~$200k for next 3 
years) 
Updates on upcoming Art 
Show fundraiser 

VIII. Charter Policy Review Head of 
School 
Governance 
Committee 

 Policy Review: 
o Committees & 

Task Forces 
o COI 

9:45am 
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March 1, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

XII. Closing Items 

A. Next Steps 

B. Adjourn Meeting 

o Nepotism 
 No requested/ needed 

changes to policies 

Chair 
Head of School 

Meeting adjourned @ 9:41am 

10:00am 

1st: BF  2nd: KC 
FOR: ET, KC, BF, TM, 
KN, DH, AW, CR, 
DP, AB 
AGAINST: n/a 

ABSTAIN: n/a 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session not 
needed 
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March 28, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

A. Approval of: February Meeting 
Minutes, Committee Meeting 
Minutes 

Review of February meeting 
minutes; no committee minutes 
for February 

VOTE 
1st: MR 2nd: KN 
FOR: ET, KN, DH, 
DG, AB, MR, CR, KC, 
AW 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee Governance: Looking to add 
Chairs facility expertise with Tyler’s 8:40am 

resignation; strategic plan 
underway; Board Retreat set 
for May 16th 

Academics: committee met 
mid-February to review all 
MOY data; action plan 
reviewed 

Finance: reviewing possibility 
of bringing financial services 
n-house; budget process 
underway 

Development: Art Room Party 
scheduled for 4/28; reviewed 
ways to support 

V. Review & Approval of February 
2022 Financials 

Treasurer February 2022 9:00am 
Financials 

Current ratio back up 
No major changes in 

variance 
Flagged a few areas for 

22-23 budget 
planning (utilities, 
repair/ maintenance, 
etc.) 

VOTE 
1st: KN 2nd: AW 
FOR: ET, KN, DH, 
DG, AB, MR, CR, KC, 
AW 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VI. Renewal of Trustee Terms Board Chair Slate of trustee term 9:10am 
Governance renewals 
Committee Renewal of trustee terms 

(slate included at end 
of minutes) 

VOTE 
1st: DG 2nd: KC 
FOR: ET, KN, DH, 
DG, AB, MR, CR, KC, 
AW 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VII. Trustee Resignation Board Chair Letter of Resignation: 
Tyler Mekus 

Stepping down due to 
personal and work 
obligations 

Submitted letter to 
Board Chair 

VIII. Election of New Trustee Board Chair 
Governance 
Committee 

Rebecca Izzo resume 
Trustee candidate has 

met with members of 
governance, 
attended meting 

Full endorsement by 

9:15am VOTE 
1st: KC 2nd: MR 
FOR: ET, KN, DH, 
DG, AB, MR, CR, KC, 
AW 
AGAINST: N/A 
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March 28, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

Governance ABSTAIN: N/A 
Committee 

Voted for appointment 

IX. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  Monthly Management 9:20am 
School Narrative 

 Enrollment & Staffing 
Dashboards 

 Art Show Sponsorship 
Materials 

X. 2022-2023 Budget Discussion Head of  22-23 Per Pupil 9:35am 
School projections 
Finance  Staff Retention 
Committee Compensation Proposal 

 NYS TRS Overview 
 Ongoing discussion will 

continue 

XI. Charter Policy Review 
Head of  Policy Review: 9:45am 
School o Section 4: 
Governance Leadership 
Committee o Section 5: Media 

 No policy changes 
needed 

XII. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair  Board Retreat – 5/16 
Head of School  Art Show – 4/28 

B. Adjourn Meeting 
Meeting adjourned @ 9:48am VOTE 

1st: AW 2nd: DH 
FOR: ET, KN, DH, 
DG, AB, MR, CR, KC, 
AW 
AGAINST: N/A 

ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session not 
needed 

Ad hoc evaluation 
committee remained on the 
call to discuss next steps 
around Head of School 
evaluation 
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April 25, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
Via Zoom Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 

AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee 
Chairs 8:40am 

V. Review & Approval of March 2022 
Financials 

Treasurer  March 2022 Financials 9:00am VOTE 
1st: BF 2nd: KN  No major changes in any 
FOR: AW, BF, RI, ET, variances 
DG, KN, DH, AB, DP  Strong current ratio 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VI. Renewal of Annual 990 
Finance Committee  990 application 9:10am VOTE 
Head of School 1st: DG 2nd: AW  No edits proposed by board 

FOR: AW, BF, RI, ET,  Okayed for submission 
DG, KN, DH, AB, DP 
AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

VII. Bank Account Resolution 
Treasurer  Resolution for movement of 9:15am VOTE 
Head of School bank accounts 1st: AW 2nd: DG 

FOR: AW, BF, RI, ET,  Approved for movement of all 
DG, KN, DH, AB, DP accounts (operating and 
AGAINST: N/A dissolution) from KeyBank 
ABSTAIN: N/A to Evans Bank 

VIII. Head of School 
Report/Dashboard 

Head of  Monthly Management Narrative 9:20am 
School  Ongoing action around 

recovering CSP funding denied 
to PPA 

 Officially approved by Cullen 
Foundation for 3 year ‘Good to 
Great’ grant, totaling ~$600k 

 Enrollment & Staffing 
Dashboards – no changes in 
current staffing; interviews and 
offers underway for 22-23 

 Lottery results – enrollment on 
track 

 Art Show Update/ invite 

IX. Review of Open Meeting Law 
Changes 

Head of  Open Meeting Law update 9:45am
School slides 
Governance  Board will need to draft and 
Committee approve official policy by June 

2022 

  X. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair  Board Retreat – Saturday, 
Head of School May 14th at 9am 

 Art Show – this Thursday, April 
28th at 6pm 

B. Adjourn Meeting 
1st: BF 2nd: DG 
FOR: AW, BF, RI, ET, 
DG, KN, DH, AB, DP

 AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Executive Session 
Executive session not needed 
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May 23, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
378 Urban Street Persistence Prep Board Meeting Minutes 
Buffalo, NY 14211 

AGAINST: N/A 
ABSTAIN: N/A 

IV. Committee Reports 
Committee 
Chairs 8:40am 

V. Review & Approval of April 2022 
Financials 

Treasurer April 2022 Financials 9:00am VOTE 
1st: RI 2nd: DH Current ratio 2.25 
FOR: ET, KN, DG, RI, Actual net income 
DH, BF, AW, DP favorable to budget 
AGAINST: N/A 

Continued discussion ABSTAIN: N/A 
around negative 
variances & 
implications for next 
year’s budget 
planning 

Per pupil funding- 
analyze other 
sending districts’ rates 

VI. Review of draft dashboard Head of School Draft dashboard 9:10am 
Board Chair Overview of data 

received by board 
across the year 

VII. Head of School Report/ 
Dashboard 

Head of School  Monthly Management 9:25am 
Narrative 

 Enrollment & Staffing 
Dashboards 

22-23 Scholar & Staff 
Recruitment update 

VIII. PPA’s Response to Tops 
Market Shooting 

Head of  Crisis Team’s 9:40am 
School Response Slides 
Leadership 
Team 

IX. Closing Items 10:00am 

A. Next Steps 
Chair  K Graduation 
Head of School  4th Grade Moving Up 

 Community Clean-Up 

B. Adjourn Meeting 
1st: KN 2nd: DP 
FOR: ET, KN, DG, RI, 
DH, BF, AW, DP 
AGAINST: N/A 

ABSTAIN: N/A 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session called at 
9:30am to review Head of 
School’s evaluation 

Executive session ended at 
9:53am 
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June 17, 2022 
8:30-10:00am 
378 Urban Street Persistence Prep Board Meeting Agenda 
Buffalo, NY 14211 

Committee 
IV. Committee Reports Chairs 8:40am 

Treasurer May 2022 Financials 8:50am VOTE 
V. Review & Approval of May 2022 
Financials 

Head of School 22-23 Budget 9:00am VOTE 
VI. Review & Approval of SY 2022- Finance Committee 2023 Budget 

Head of School  Monthly Management 9:25am VII. Head of School Report/ 
Narrative Dashboard 

 Monthly Data 
Dashboard 

22-23 Scholar & Staff 
Recruitment update 

Head of  Summary of year’s 9:35am 
VIII. 2021-2022 Annual Reflection School largest wins, 

challenges and 
opportunities ahead 

IX. 2022-2023 Board Annual Calendar Head of School  Committee interest 9:50am VOTE 
Board Chair  Annual Calendar 

Template 

X. Closing Items 10:00am 

Chair  4th Grade Moving Up 
A. Next Steps Head of School 

B. Adjourn Meeting 

X. Executive Session 

Executive session if needed 
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Disclosure of Financial Interest by a Current 
or Former Trustee 

Trustee Name: 

______Misha Russo_______________________________________________ 

Name of Charter School Education Corporation: 

Persistence Preparatory Academy 

1. List all positions held on the education corporation Board of Trustees (“Board”) 
(e.g., chair, vice-chair, treasurer, secretary, parent representative, etc.). 

Development Chair 

2. Are you related, by blood or marriage, to any person employed by the school 
and/or education corporation? 

No 

3. Are you related by blood, or marriage, or legal adoption/guardianship to any 
student currently enrolled in a school operated by the education corporation? 

No 
-

4. Are you related, by blood or marriage, to any person that could otherwise benefit 
from your participation as a board member of the education corporation? 

No 5. Are you a past, current, or prospective employee of the charter school, 
education corporation, and/or an entity that provides comprehensive management 
services (“CMO”), whether for-profit or not-for-profit, which contracts, or may 
contract, with the charter school or education corporation; or do you serve as an 
employee, officer, or director of, or own a controlling interest in, a business or entity 
that contracts, or does business with, or plans to contract or do business with, the 
charter school, education corporation, and/or a CMO, whether for-profit or 
not-for-profit, including, but not limited to, the lease of real 



or personal property to the said entities? 

No 

Page 2 of 5 
-

6. Identify each interest/transaction (and provide the requested information) that 
you, any of your immediate family members, and/or any persons who you reside 
with have held or engaged in with the charter school(s) operated by the 
education corporation during the time you have served on the Board, and in the 
six months prior to such service. If there has been no such interest or 
transaction, check None. 

None 

Page 3 of 5 
-

7. Identify each individual, business, corporation, union association, firm, 
partnership, franchise holding company, joint-stock company, business or real 
estate trust, non-profit organization, or other organization or group of people 
doing business with the school(s) operated by the education corporation and in 
which such entity, during the time of your tenure as a trustee, you and/or 
your immediate family member(s) or person(s) you reside with had a financial 
interest or other relationship. If you are a member, director, officer, or 
employee of an organization formally partnered with and/or doing business 
with the school(s) through a management or services agreement, please 
identify only the name of the organization, your position in the organization, 
and the relationship between such organization and the school(s). If there was 
no financial interest, check None. 

None 
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